IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MARTIN PUCCIO,)	
)	
Appellant,)	
)	
VS.)	CASE NO. 86,242
)	
STATE OF FLORIDA,)	
)	
Appellee.)	
)	

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit of Florida, In and For Broward County.

RICHARD L. JORANDBY
Public Defender
15th Judicial Circuit of Florida
Criminal Justice Building
421 Third Street/6th Floor
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(407) 355-7600

PAUL E. PETILLO
Assistant Public Defender
Florida Bar No. 508438

Attorney for Martin Puccio

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant was the defendant and Appellee was the prosecution in the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, Broward County, Florida. In the brief, the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Court. The following symbols will be used:

"R" Record on Appeal

"SR" Supplemental Record (PSI)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, Martin Puccio, was charged by indictment with one count of premeditated murder and one count of conspiracy to commit premeditated murder R3334. Jury selection began on September 8, 1994. Appellant was found guilty as charged of both counts R2744. The jury recommended the death penalty, 8-4 R3087. The trial court sentenced Appellant to death for the murder R3251. The trial court departed from the guidelines and sentenced Appellant to thirty years for the conspiracy charge R3251. Timely notice of appeal was filed R3811.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

GUILT PHASE

Tuesday, July 13, 1993, co-defendants Alice Willis, Donald Semenec and Heather Swallers drove from Palm Bay to co-defendant Lisa Connelly's house R1642. Lisa Connelly was Alice Willis's best friend and Appellant's girlfriend R1638-39. Donald Semenec was Alice Willis's current boyfriend, and the victim, Bobby Kent, was her former boyfriend

R1639. Heather Swallers testified for the state that Lisa Connelly and Alice Willis wanted to kill Bobby Kent, and they went to the home of codefendant Derek Kaufman to obtain a firearm for that purpose R1711-1712. Alice Willis said she wanted to kill Kent because he was coming to Palm Bay to shoot her R1714.

Unable to obtain a firearm from Derek Kaufman, Lisa Connelly and Alice Willis went to Connelly's house and got Connelly's mother's gun R1714. Connelly and Willis dropped Donald Semenec and Heather Swallers off at a friend's house, while they took Kent to a remote area to kill him¹ R1714. However, Connelly and Willis returned with Kent R1714.

That evening, Kent, Lisa Connelly, Heather Swallers, Alice Willis, and Donald Semenec went to Appellant's house R1650. Swallers, Semenec, Connelly, and Appellant stood in front of Appellant's house, while Willis and Kent walked down the street R1651. Swallers testified that there was a conversation about "Bob needs to be killed; Bobby needs to be dead" R1652. Swallers testified that Appellant said "Bobby needed to be killed" because "[i]t would stop him from beating him up" R1652-53. Connelly agreed R1653.

Alice Willis returned and she, Connelly, Semenec and Swallers left R1654. Appellant went back inside his house R 1655. Connelly and Willis said they had taken Bobby Kent out to Weston that afternoon.

 $^{^{1}}$ Kaufman had suggested the site, a remote area in Weston (R 1714).

They were going to shoot him but were afraid to fire the gun R1655. Willis, who was upset and shaky, said that Kent had raped her R1655.

Connelly snuck Willis, Swallers, and Semenec into her bedroom where they spent the night R1657. The next day (Wednesday), Lisa Connelly's cousin, co-defendant Derek Dzvirko came over. Wednesday evening, Dzvirko, Semenec, Willis, Connelly, and Swallers obtained a baseball bat from a friend of Dzvirko's R1664, Swallers said the conversation was about using the baseball bat on Bobby Kent because he raped Willis R1664-1665. Swallers also testified that Donald Semenec had a diver's knife with a long blade R1666.

After they got the baseball bat, Connelly and Willis made a phone call from the K-Mart Plaza; they then picked up Derek Kaufman, and the six of them (Dzvirko, Kaufman, Semenec, Swallers, Willis, and Connelly) went to Appellant's house R1668. Swallers did not know whether Appellant was going to be involved in the attack R1670. On the way to Appellant's, Kaufman bragged that he was the leader of a gang called the "Crazy Mother Fuckers" R1670. He had "CMF" tattooed on his arm R 1671. Swallers said Kaufman was a "real bad dude" and was intimidating at six foot three, two-hundred forty pounds. Derek Dzvirko was also big R1747.

At Appellant's house everyone got out of Willis's car R1672. There was a conversation about killing Bobby Kent R1673. Swallers testified that Appellant said that he wanted Bob Kent dead R1675. Asked whether he said why he wanted him dead, Swallers answered that Kent was wrecking

Appellant's life and "was beating him up all the time" R1675. Swallers testified that at this point, the group was trying to decide who would stab Kent first R1676. Semenec said that he would do it first R1676. Appellant had a pipe about a foot long and he said that he could use it to hit Kent R1678. Appellant also had a diver's knife. Appellant tossed the pipe in the trunk of his mother's car R1679. The group spent fifteen minutes talking about how they were going to kill Kent R1679.

when Kent arrived, they told him they were going to race cars R1682. Kaufman, Connelly, Dzvirko, and Appellant were in one car R1682. Kaufman hid in the car because he did not want Kent to see him R1681. Kent, Semenec, Willis, and Swallers got in Willis' car R 1682. Willis was to pretend she was getting back with Bobby Kent R1682.

When they got to the remote area in Weston, Kent and Willis walked toward a canal R1684. Kaufman sat on the hood of one car R1684. Connelly and Swallers called out for Willis, asking her to come up by the cars R1686. Willis said wait R1686. Swallers walked to Willis and Kent R1686. Swallers, Kent, and Willis were standing at the edge of the canal talking and joking around R1687.

² Asked, "Do you remember anything else that Marty said [the night before the killing]?" Swallers answered, 'He told us he went over a curb one time with [Kent] in the car, and [Kent] punched him in the face or something." R1744.

³ Swallers testified that Donald Semenec was angry with Kent because he knew that Willis said Kent raped her the night before R1750.

Swallers testified that Donald Semenec came up behind Kent and stabbed him in the back of the neck R1687. Kent said, "oh, fuck" and grabbed the back of his neck R1689. Swallers ran to Willis's car and got in the back seat R1689. Swallers heard Kent say a couple of times "Marty, I'm sorry" R1690.

A couple of minutes later Willis got in the car, started it, and turned the lights on R1690. Derek Kaufman told her to 'shut the fucking car off" R1691. Before Willis did so, Swallers saw Kaufman, Semenec, and Appellant standing around Kent R1691. Swallers testified that this was the only time she saw Appellant at the scene R1694-1695. Dzvirko got in the car for a couple of seconds and then got out R1691.

Swallers heard Kent moaning near Willis's car R1692. Asked, "Did you see anybody around him at that time?" Swallers answered, "Derek Kaufman brought the baseball bat over." R1693. Swallers turned her head and did not see anything, but the moaning stopped R1693. Kaufman said he needed someone to help him carry the body to the water R1693. Swallers did not see whether anyone helped Kaufman R1694.

Willis, Dzvirko and Semenec got in the car with Swallers R1695.

Both cars went to the beach R1696. At the beach, Appellant said he did not have the sheath to his knife R1696. Appellant, Kaufman and Willis returned to Weston to retrieve it R1696. Dzvirko, Semenec, Connelly and Swallers stayed at the beach R1697.

Connelly cleaned out the carR1698. Connelly said she could smell blood R1698. Swallers, at Lisa Connelly's suggestion, buried her shoes in the sand R1699. Semenec buried the knives R1699.

Appellant, Kaufman, and Willis returned with the sheath R1700. Someone dug up the knives and threw them in the water R1700. The seven sat and talked about an alibi R1701. The plan was that Kaufman, Semenec, and Dzvirko were never with them, and that Appellant, Willis, Swallers, and Connelly went to South Beach R1703-1704. They would say that Kent went out with a girl he worked with at Publix R1702. Kaufman threatened that if anyone turned him in he would kill them R1764.

Asked, "Did Marty make any comments while you were at the beach about what he had done to Bobby Kent?" Swallers answered, "He had said that he stabbed, I guess, in the upper chest part. In the heart or something that's all I remember him saying." R1704. However, Swallers admitted that in her statement to Detective Palmer she did not tell him about Appellant's statement R1727-1728.

After they discussed the alibi, they walked their separate ways along the beach R1705. Willis began to cry. Swallers told her not to because if they had not killed Kent he would have killed her (Willis) and her baby R1705.

The seven co-defendants left the beach R1706. After dropping Dzvirko off at his house, the rest went to Connelly's house R1706. Appellant and Connelly stayed at Connelly's, while Willis, Semenec, and

Swallers took Kaufman home R1707-1708. After they returned to Connelly's house, Appellant left R1708. Willis, Semenec, and Swallers snuck inside again and spent the night R1709.

The next day Connelly and Willis left and returned with Dzvirko and Kaufman R1709. The six of them were there until approximately 3:00 in the afternoon R1709. Willis, Semenec, and Swallers took Kaufman home and then returned to Palm Bay R1700.

Swallers pled guilty to conspiracy to commit first degree murder and was allowed to plead guilty to the lesser offense of second degree murder R1715. In return for her testimony, Swallers would receive a sentence of seven to fifteen years R1715.

Derek Dzvirko testified for the state that Lisa Connelly is his cousin and that he went to her house Wednesday, July 14, 1993 R1773-1774. At Connelly's house were Semenec, Willis, Connelly, and Swallers R1774-1775. Willis told Dzvirko, "I have a problem . . . We got to kill Bob" R1775. Willis said Kent tried to rape her the night before R1775. Dzvirko testified, "Everybody just kind of jumped in the conversation at one time, it was like, we got to get rid of him; he's making everybody's life miserable. Alice told me, he threatened to kill me and my baby if I didn't go back to him" R1775. They discussed methods of killing Bobby Kent such as poisoning, knife, bat, shooting, etc. "Things you see in movies." R1776.

About an hour later, Dzvirko went across the street to a comic book store where he spent the afternoon R1776. Semenec joined him there later R1778. The girls stopped by and said they were going to meet someone named Derek Kaufman R1778. Dzvirko told them to beep him when they got back R1778. Semenec went with the girls R1778.

Dzvirko went back to Connelly's house about 5:00 p.m.; Connelly, Willis, Semenec, and Swallers were in Connelly's bedroom R1778. They said they were on a three-way phone conversation with Derek Kaufman and Appellant R1779. Dzvirko and his Aunt (Lisa Connelly's mother) went out to eat R1779. When Dzvirko returned, they said they were going to pick up Kaufman R1782. They asked Dzvirko if he could get a baseball bat R1782. Dzvirko told them to stop at the comic book store so he could use the phone R1782. On the way there, Semenec pulled out a knife and asked Dzvirko if it looked sharp R1783. When the girls could not decide who would 'do it," Semenec said, "You're all pussies; 1'11 do it" R1849.

After Dzvirko obtained a bat from a friend, they picked up Kaufman R1790. Dzvirko asked Kaufman what the "CMF" tattoo on his arm stood for R1791. Kaufman said the "Crazy Mother Fucker" gang, Davie Boy Chapter R1791. Kaufman said he was a "Godfather CMF", i.e., head of the chapter R1791. Dzvirko asked where they were going R1790. One of the girls said they were going to pick up Appellant R1790. Dzvirko rolled his eyes, and Kaufman asked why R1790. Dzvirko said he did not like

Appellant R1790. Kaufman said "Don't worry about it, nothing's going to happen" R1790. Dzvirko said, 'I hope you're right" R1790.

Appellant was outside his house R1793. Kent arrived around 11:30 p.m. R1794. Appellant, Connelly, Kaufman, and Dzvirko got in one car R1794. Willis, Kent, and Swallers got in Willis's car R1795. Kaufman asked Appellant if they each knew what to do, and Appellant said yes R1799. Kaufman asked Dzvirko what he was going to do, and Dzvirko said he was not going to do anything R1800.

At the scene, Willis and Kent walked toward the canal R1802. Kaufman took the baseball bat out of the trunk R1804. Semenec had his knife R1804. Appellant showed Kaufman a pipe about a foot long and asked him if it was hard enough to knock someone out R1804. Kaufman tapped it on his hand and said it was R1804. Kaufman handed the pipe to Dzvirko and asked, "Are you sure you're not going to do nothing" R1804. Dzvirko said he was not R1804. Kaufman put the pipe back in the car R1805. Kaufman told Semenec and Swallers that the signal would be to ask if there were any alligators in the canal R1805.

when Kent and Willis walked near the canal, Semenec and Swallers approached, and Appellant followed R1806. Kaufman, Connelly, and Dzvirko stood by the cars R1807. Swallers asked if there were any alligators in the canal R1807. Dzvirko saw Semenec stab Kent in the back of the neck R1807. Semenec backed up with the knife in his hand R1807. Kent turned around and said "What the fuck is your problem" and

started toward Semenec as if to fight him R1808. When he realized he was bleeding, he looked at Appellant, said his name, at which time Appellant hit him in the abdomen with something that caused Kent to double over in pain⁴ R1808. Kent said, 'No please, I'm sorry" and ran R1809. Kaufman screamed, "get him" R1809. Kaufman, Semenec, and Appellant ran after him R1809.

Dzvirko got into Willis's car with the three girls R1809. Dzvirko screamed "Go" R1810. Willis started the car and turned the lights on R1810. Dzvirko saw Kent on the ground. Kaufman had the baseball bat and stood over Kent R1810. Donald Semenec was crouching over Kent and pulling something out of Kent's chest; Dzvirko did not see what it was, but he knew that Semenec had a knife R1810, 1860-1861. Dzvirko did not see Appellant R1810. Dzvirko testified that there was no doubt in his mind that Appellant was not around Kent at this time R1859-1861. Kaufman yelled at Willis, "turn the car off; turn the lights off; we ain't done" R1810. Before Willis turned off the lights, Dzvirko saw Kaufman's hands go up with the bat, and as the lights went out Dzvirko heard a crack R1810. Dzvirko heard the swishing sound of water R1811. Willis drove forward R1811. Kaufman yelled at her to turn the car off, while Dzvirko yelled at her to go R1811.

⁴ On cross-examination, Dzvirko testified that he did not see whether Appellant had a knife when he hit Kent in the stomach, and thus could not say whether he saw Appellant stab Kent R 1867. On re-direct examination, Dzvirko testified that he did see Appellant with a knife R 1879.

Willis turned the car off R1811. Kaufman was yelling for someone to come help him finish it R1811. He yelled, "They have to finish it" several times R1811. Kaufman walked to the car and told him to help him finish R1811. Seeing what Kaufman had just done, Dzvirko did not argue with him R1812. Dzvirko got out of the car R1812. Connelly said she wanted to be with Appellant so she ran to Appellant's car R1813.

Kaufman asked for a pair of gloves, and someone handed him a pair of latex gloves R1812. Kaufman said they had to conceal the body and take Kent's wallet so he will be harder to identify R1812. Kaufman and Dzvirko carried Kent to the canal bank where Dzvirko dropped him and ran back to the car R1812. Kent was making a wheezing sound and his shirt was covered with blood R1812.

Dzvirko got in one car along with Swallers and Semenec. Willis drove away R1813. The other car pulled along side and Kaufman yelled that they were going to the beach R1813.

At the beach, Kaufman gave the bat to Dzvirko and told him to wipe it down R1817. Kaufman asked if they had the sheath to Appellant's knife R1817. When they could not find it, Kaufman said they had to go back to the scene and get it because it was plastic and might have fingerprints on it R1817. Kaufman, Willis, and Appellant drove back to the scene R1818. Dzvirko asked Semenec if he was all right R1819. Semenec said, "Yeah, I'm all right. I had to get him. I had to get him

before he got my girl. There was no way ${\tt I}$ was going to let him kill my girl" R1819.

Kaufman, Willis, and Appellant returned with the sheath R1820. Kaufman and Semenec threw the knives in the water R1820. After that, the group got together to form an alibi R1820-1821. The story would be that Connelly, Willis, Swallers, Appellant and Semenec went to South Beach; Appellant would call Kent's father in the morning and ask for Kent R1820-1821. Kaufman threatened that if anyone mentioned his name, they would be dead before the end of the week R1831. Semenec also threatened the others; he said if he got caught, he would "blow whoever told away" R1831-1832.

Dzvirko testified that he did not hear Appellant say anything about what he had done to Kent, and did not see or hear Appellant say anything to Swallers R1873.

Willis took Dzvirko home around 3:00 a.m. R1822. At 9:00 or 10:00 a.m., Connelly called and said they wanted him to come over so they could go over the alibi R1822-1823. Willis and Connelly picked up Dzvirko. They went to the scene and saw that the body was still there R1823. Connelly and Willis attempted to erase the tread marks in the sand R1824. Afterwards, they picked up Kaufman and went to Connelly's house. Everyone from the night before was there except Appellant R1824.

Sunday, July 18, 1993, Dzvirko took Detective Illarraza to the scene where Kent's body was found R1829. Like Swallers, Dzvirko pled

guilty as charged to conspiracy to commit first degree murder and was allowed to plead to the lesser included offense of second degree murder R1829-1830. In exchange for his testimony, Dzvirko would receive a sentence between seven and twenty-two years in prison R1830.

Daniel Selove, the medical examiner, testified that he went to the scene on July 18, 1993, and saw Kent's body lying face down at the water's edge R1921. The autopsy revealed five wounds to the back area, consisting of: a stab wound to the back of the neck, an inch to two-inches deep; one to the back of the head, scalp deep; and three superficial stab wounds to the right shoulder R1932. Frontal wounds consisted of a stab wound to the left upper chest, penetrating the heart; a stab wound to the right abdomen, penetrating the intestines; two incised wounds to the throat, cutting the windpipe; a stab wound to the right arm, one to two inches deep; and a superficial cut on the left thumb tip, characteristic of a defensive type wound R1932,1938. There was blunt trauma to Kent's right scalp that may have rendered him unconscious R1952. Kent's neck was fractured R1954.

The stab wound to the heart was fatal and consciousness was lost within fifteen to thirty seconds R1945. The two slits to the throat were rapidly (minutes) fatal R1940.

Selove testified that one weapon could have caused the various stab wounds, but he could not rule out the possibility of more than one weapon R1971. The abdomen wound and heart wound are so similar that Dr.

Selove thought it likely they were made in close proximity of time R1999-2001. On cross-examination, Dr. Selove testified that Kent's neck had been sliced ("incised") not stabbed R1980.

Fred Kent, Bobby Kent's father, testified that at four a.m. Thursday morning, he received a phone **call** R2007. Appellant was on the line and said, 'Bobby this is Marty Puccio. You told me to call you when you get home; I'll talk to you tomorrow" R2007. Appellant hung up.

At noon, Mr. Kent went to Appellant's house to see if Bobby spent the night there R2008. Appellant appeared nervous and shaky R2008. Mr. Kent asked what happened to Bobby R2008. Appellant said he went out with a girl from Publix and that maybe the gangs got a hold of him R2008. Mr. Kent said they should report this to the police; Appellant said they should wait R2009. Mr. Kent went home and called the police R2009. Appellant arrived to help with the report R2009.

Officer Ramsey took the missing person report from Mr. Kent R 2017. Appellant told Officer Ramsey that he last saw Kent at midnight, and that Kent went out with a girl from Publix R2026. Detective Hoffman took a taped statement from Appellant on July 16, 1993 R2047. Appellant told Detective Hoffman that he last saw Kent waiting at the corner for his date R2053. Appellant went to South Beach with Semenec, Willis, Swallers, Connelly and Dzvirko R2049. Hoffman told Appellant that he had information that Kent was stabbed and his body dumped in Weston R2054-2054. Appellant denied any knowledge of that and said he feared

Kent's disappearance was gang related R2054. Appellant said that Kent was in the "Evil Nation" gang and that he has had trouble with the "Davie Boys" gang R2054-2055.

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