FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE

APR 23 1997

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

MARTIN PUCCIO,

Appellant,

vs.

Case No. 86,242

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

SARA D, BAGGETT ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLA. BAR NO. 0857238 1655 PALM BEACH LAKES BLVD. SUITE 300 WEST PALM BEACH, FL. 33409 (407) 688-7759

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, MARTIN PUCCIO, was the defendant in the trial court below and will be referred to herein as "Appellant." Appellee, the State of Florida, was the petitioner in the trial court below and will be referred to herein as "the State." Reference to the pleadings will be by the symbol "R," reference to the transcripts will be by the symbol "T," and reference to the supplemental pleadings and transcripts will be by the symbols "SR[vol.]" or "ST[vol.]" followed by the appropriate page number(s).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Given its page limitations in responding to Appellant's twenty-issue brief, the State will rely on Appellant's statement of the case and facts and its facts as related in each argument.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Issue I - Since the codefendants were not sentenced to death at the trial level, their cases should not be compared to Appellant's case when performing a proportionality analysis. Disparate sentences are analyzed as mitigation and weighed against aggravation. See Issue IV.

Issue II - The record supports the trial court's finding that this murder was committed in a "cold" manner and without any "pretense of moral or legal justification." Even did it not, there is no reasonable possibility that the sentence would have been different absent this aggravating factor.

Issue III - The record supports the trial court's finding that this murder was committed in a "heinous, atrocious, or cruel" manner. Even did it not, there is no reasonable possibility that the sentence would have been different absent this aggravating fact

Issue IV - Appellant's sentence of death is not disproportionate to sentences in other cases under similar facts.

Issue V - The trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to admit and consider the probation officer's recommendation in Appellant's presentence investigation report of a life sentence. Even if it did, such error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Issue VI - The trial court gave the newly amended <u>Jackson</u> instruction, which adequately informed the jury that each element of the CCP factor must be found beyond a reasonable doubt. Even if it did not, this murder was committed in a cold, calculated, and

premeditated manner under any definition of the terms. Thus, any error in the instruction would have been harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Issue VII - There was no evidence to support an instruction on the "extreme duress or substantial domination" mitigating factor. Defense counsel agreed that the instruction would not apply to any domination by Derek Kaufman, and this instruction does not apply to actions by the victim, Should the instruction have been given, however, there is no reasonable possibility that the recommendation or the ultimate sentence would have been different.

Issue VIII - By asking Dr. Day on direct examination whether he relied on Appellant's discussion of the murder to form his opinions, defense counsel opened the door for the State to question the doctor on cross-examination about the substance of Appellant's comments. If the comments were elicited in error, however, such error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Issue IX - Any application of the amended statute providing for a sentence of death or life imprisonment without parole, absent a request or consent by Appellant, would have constituted an ex *post facto* violation. Thus, Appellant cannot claim that the trial court should have considered life imprisonment without parole as a sentencing option where he made no request for such consideration.

Issue X - Appellant did not make an unequivocal request to represent himself during the penalty phase. Rather, he wanted defense counsel to present the testimony of a witness against counsel's advice. After Appellant indicated to the trial court

upon questioning that he wanted to present this witness' testimony, the trial court in no way forced counsel to present the witness' testimony, Rather, defense counsel made a tactical decision to present such testimony against his own advice. Under these circumstances, no <u>Faretta</u> inquiry was required. Regardless, while the witness was severely impeached on cross-examination, his testimony was cumulative to that presented by other witnesses. Thus, any harm in presenting his testimony was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Issue XI - When read in its entirety, the trial court's written sentencing order makes clear that the trial court did not presume application of the death penalty upon finding a single aggravating factor. Rather, the trial court performed its function of finding aggravation and mitigation and weighing them accordingly.

Issue XII - The trial court gave the newly amended HAC instruction, which this Court has repeatedly upheld against Appellant's constitutional challenge. Even were it erroneous, this murder was committed in a "heinous, atrocious, or cruel" manner under any definition of the terms.

Issue XIII - This Court has previously held that the penalty phase instructions adequately inform the jury that it can consider mental mitigation even though it does not rise to the level of statutory mitigation. Thus, the trial court was not required to strike the "extreme" and "substantial" modifiers from the statutory mental mitigating factors.

Issue XIV - This Court has previously held that the trial court need not instruct on each individual nonstatutory mitigating factor.

Issue XV - Appellant did not preserve a hearsay objection to Detective Murray's testimony which related statements by Derek Kaufman. Regardless, Kaufman's statements were not admitted for their truth, but rather to show that they were made, in order to corroborate Kenneth Calamusa's testimony. Second, Appellant opened the door to such testimony during his cross-examination of Calamusa by alleging that no one could corroborate Calamusa's testimony when, in fact, Derek Kaufman's statements did. Were Kaufman's statements to Detective Murray admitted in error, however, such error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Issue XVI - Derek Kaufman's statements to Michael Colletti, implicating Appellant in the plan to obtain a gun to shoot the victim, were admissible under the co-conspirator hearsay exception, Sufficient evidence established the "predicate evidence" that this plot existed and that Kaufman's attempt to obtain a gun from Colletti related to this plot. Even if Kaufman's statements to Colletti were admitted in error, however, such error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Issue XVII - By failing to seek a curative instruction, defense counsel failed to preserve an objection to a comment by the prosecutor during guilt-phase closing arguments. Regardless, the State's comment was in fair reply to defense counsel's preceding argument and did not constitute a comment on Appellant's post-

arrest silence. The State's immediate explanation to the jury after defense counsel prematurely objected cured any error that may have occurred by the state's incomplete sentence. Even if it did not, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Issue XVIII - Circumstantial evidence sufficiently established the identity of the person as Appellant who called Thomas Lemke. Even if the State did not sufficiently identify the caller, any error in the admission of Mr. Lemke's testimony was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Issue XIX - Defense counsel was given numerous opportunities to object to the trial court's instructions during voir dire on reasonable doubt, but made none. In any event, this Court has evaluated similar comments and found them not improper, much less fundamental error.

Issue XX - Defense counsel either had or could have obtained with due diligence the substance of the information found in a mental health report relating to Heather Swallers that counsel obtained subsequent to Appellant's penalty phase. Regardless, there is no reasonable probability that the information would produce an acquittal on retrial.

<u>AR</u>GUMENT

<u>ISSUE I</u>

WHETHER APPELLANT'S SENTENCE IS DISPROPORTIONATE TO THOSE OF HIS CODEFENDANTS (Restated).

Appellant claims that this murder was "a group effort" and that out of all his codefendants he should not have been "singled Out" for a death sentence. Alternatively, he contends that, "[i]f the culpability of the group is legitimately divisible among the individual members, Derek Kaufman and Donald Semenec are equally, if not more, culpable than Appellant. Yet neither Kaufman nor Semenec received the death penalty." **Brief of Appellant** at 33-34.

Appellant's argument is based solely on the concept of proportionality. He misperceives, however, the function of proportionality review. In Garcia v. State, 492 So. 2d 360, 368 (Fla. 1986), the defendant claimed that his death sentences denied him equal justice where none of his three codefendants were likewise sentenced to death. Two pled guilty and received life sentences, and one was tried and received life sentences. In rejecting Garcia's proportionality claim, this Court stated that Garcia's argument "misapprehend[ed] the nature of proportionality review":

> Such review compares the sentence of death to the cases in which we have approved or disapproved a sentence of death. Ι t. not thus far been extended to cases where the death wenalty was not imwosed at the trial Prosecutorial discretion in plea level. accomplices is not bargaining with unconstitutionally impermissible and does not violate the principle of proportionality. In

> > а

the case of the third accomplice who went to trial and received consecutive life sentences, "an exercise of mercy on behalf of the defendant in one case does not prevent the imposition of death by capital punishment in the other case."

<u>Id.</u> at 368 (citations omitted; emphasis added) (quoting <u>Alvord v.</u> <u>State</u>, 322 So. 2d 533, 540 (Fla. 1975), <u>cert. denied</u>, 428 U.S. 923 (1976)), <u>sentence rev'd on other mounds</u>. 622 So. 2d 1325 (Fla. 1993).

Here, none of Appellant's codefendants were sentenced to death at the trial level. Heather Swallers and Derek Dzvirko had <u>pled</u> <u>quilty to second-degree murder</u> and conspiracy to commit firstdegree murder, and had been sentenced to seven years in prison, followed by three years of probation, and to eleven years in prison, followed by five years of probation, respectively. (R 3784-85). Thus, their sentences, which were the result of the State's decision to engage in a plea bargain, are irrelevant to Appellant's proportionality claim. <u>See Garcia</u>, 492 So. 2d at 368 ("Prosecutorial discretion in plea bargaining with accomplices is not unconstitutionally impermissible and does not violate the principle of proportionality."); <u>Diaz v. Stat</u>e, 513 **So.**2d 1045, 1049 (Fla. 1987) (same).

Alice Willis, Donald Semenec, and Lisa Connelly had been <u>convicted by a iury of **second**-degree murder</u> and conspiracy to commit second-degree murder, and had been sentenced to forty years in prison, followed by forty years of probation, to life in prison, followed by fifteen years of probation, and to life in prison with

a concurrent five years in prison, respectively. (R 3785-86). As to these three codefendants, their sentences are irrelevant to a claim of disproportionate sentencing since they were only convicted of second-degree murder. See Steinhorst v. Singletary, 638 So. 2d 35 (Fla. 1994) ("Although Steinhorst's death sentence was 33. affirmed before Hughes was convicted, Hughes was only convicted of second-degree murder . . . Therefore, Hughes' sentence is not relevant to a claim of disparate sentencing."); Garcia, 492 So. 2d at 368 (stating that proportionality review does not apply to cases where death penalty not imposed at trial level); see also Larzelere v. State, 676 So. 2d 394, 407 (Fla. 1996) (finding acquittal of codefendant "irrelevant to this proportionality review because, as a matter of law, he was exonerated of any culpability"), cert. denied, 117 S. Ct. 615 (1997).

Finally, Derek Kaufman had been convicted by a jury of firstdegree murder and conspiracy to commit first-degree murder, but <u>the</u> <u>nurv had recommended a life sentence</u>. After performing its independent analysis, <u>the trial court sentenced Kaufman to life in</u> <u>prison</u> without the possibility of parole for twenty-five years on the murder charge, and to a consecutive thirty years in prison on the conspiracy charge. (T 3786), As this Court held in <u>Garcia</u>, mercy by the jury in recommending life does not prevent a death sentence for a codefendant. 492 so. 2d at 368. Moreover, proportionality review does not apply to cases where the death penalty was not imposed at the trial level. <u>Id.</u> Thus, Appellant cannot claim that his sentence is disproportionate to that of his

codefendants where some pled to second-degree murder, some were convicted of second-degree murder, and one was sentenced to life in accordance with the jury's recommendation of mercy.¹

On the other hand, this Court has consistently considered the disparate treatment of codefendants in terms of mitigation when analyzing the proportionality of death sentences. In other words, in performing proportionality analyses in previous cases, this Court has weighed the disparate treatment of codefendants <u>as</u> <u>mitigation</u> against any aggravation. <u>E.g., Colina v. State, 634</u> So. 2d 1077, 1082 (Fla. 1994) (affirming trial court's rejection of disparate treatment as mitigation where defendant responsible for barrage of lethal blows after codefendant hit victim once and knocked him to ground), <u>cert. denied</u>, 115 S. Ct. 330, 130 L. Ed. 2d 289 (1995); <u>Haves v. State</u>, 581 So. 2d 121, 127 (Fla. 1991) (finding sentence proportionate where codefendant proposed robbing a cabdriver and obtained gun from friend, but Hayes concocted plan, shot driver, and rifled victim's pockets while codefendants wiped fingerprints from cab), <u>cert. denied</u>, 502 U.S. 972 (1992).

¹ Appellant cites to <u>Slater v. State</u>, ³J⁶, So. 2d 539 (Fla. 1975), and <u>Scott v. Dugger</u>, 604 So. 2d 465 (Fla. 1992), to support his claim that proportionality analysis applies to his codefendants' sentences. In <u>Slater</u>, however, this Court overturned a jury override, finding that the disparate sentences of Slater's codefendants as mitigation constituted a reasonable basis for the jury's life recommendation. 316 So. 2d at 540-42. In <u>Scott</u>, both Scott and his codefendant had originally been sentenced to death, but the codefendant's sentence was later reduced to a life sentence. This Court's later consideration of that reduced sentence is in keeping with <u>Garcia</u> since the codefendant was originally sentenced to death.

However, the trial court in this case rejected as mitigation both the statutory mitigating circumstance that Appellant was an accomplice whose participation was relatively minor, and the nonstatutory mitigating circumstance of the disparate sentences of (R 3778-79, 3783-87). Nowhere in his brief does the codefendants. Appellant challenge the rejection of this mitigation! In his separate proportionality claim raised in Issue IV, he discusses the mitigation found by the trial court and then makes the following "There is also other conclusory and inconsistent statement: mitigation existing in this case which the trial court improperly As explained in <u>Point I</u>, there was strong evidence that rejected. Kaufman and Semenec were equally culpable." Brief of Appellant at However, Point I is a challenge to the proportionality of 56. Appellant's sentence; it is not a challenge to the propriety or legality of the trial court's rejection of such evidence as mitigation. And although Appellant challenges the rejection of other nonstatutory mitigation during his proportionality argument in Issue IV, he does not present legal argument or analysis regarding the rejection of the "minor participation" or disparate treatment mitigating factors. To the extent, however, that this Court chooses to overlook this pleading deficiency and, in performing its proportionality analysis, consider the trial court's rejection of the codefendants' sentences as mitigation, the State will rely on its response to Issue IV, infra,

ISSUE II

WHETHER THE RECORD SUPPORTS THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDING OF THE "COLD, CALCULATED, AND PREMEDITATED" MURDER AGGRAVATING FACTOR (Restated).

Appellant claims that the record does not support the CCP aggravating factor in this case. **Brief of Appellant** at 36-47. In its written sentencing order, the trial court acknowledged and defined the four elements inherent in this aggravating factor and then made the following findings as they related to those elements:

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